
  
CITY COUNCIL 

 

AGENDA 
Tuesday, January 16, 2024, 6:00 P.M. 

 
CALL TO ORDER   

 
INVOCATION. VICE MAYOR EATON 

 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
ROLL CALL          

 
       APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

a.) December 19, 2023 – City Council Called Meeting   
 

 COMMUNICATIONS AND SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS 
a.) FBI-LEEDA Trilogy award. Tim Plotts 
b.) Athens City Intermediate School update. Angel Hardaway and Ryan Armstrong 
c.) Miscellaneous Correspondence. 

   
REQUESTS FROM CITIZENS 

 
CONSENT AGENDA        

a) Approve schedule for Athens Travelers Cruise In except for May 18 due to previously 
scheduled Relay for Life event at Market Park.  

b) Approve Resolution No. 2024-01 for Athens Flood Awareness week. 
c) Approve Resolution No. 2024-02 for Assistance to Firefighters Equipment Grant.  
d) Approve workplace harassment non-retaliation (whistleblower) policy and 

procedures. 
e) Approve policy for break time and space requirements for nursing mothers. 
f) Approve bid for Law Enforcement weapons. 
g) Approve purchase of trucks for Public Works and Community Development utilizing 

State of Tennessee Bid and declare three Ford Escapes as surplus property. 
h) Approve GEOS proposal for North Jackson and Slope Stability Assessment. 
i) Authorize the Mayor, City Manager and Fire Chief to look for land to be purchased 

for an additional fire station. 
j) Authorize Fire and Police radio upgrades to 800 MHZ utilizing state bid pricing. 

 
(1-5) 
 
 
 
(6) 
(7) 
 
 
 
 
 
(8) 
 
(9) 
(10) 
(11-12) 
 
 
(13) 
(14) 
(15-17) 
 
(18-26) 
(27-29) 
 
(30-32) 



Athens City Council Agenda 
December 19, 2023  
Page 2 of 2  

 
 
 
        ORDINANCES 

 
 OLD BUSINESS 

 
 NEW BUSINESS 

a.) Motion to change the meeting time of the City Council study session from 6pm to 
3pm. 

b.) Motion to change the time limit during Citizen input at Council Meetings from 5 
minutes to 3 minutes.  

c.) Motion to limit Citizen input at Called Council Meeting to be restricted to items 
specified on the agenda.  

d.) Motion regarding termination of K-9 program for Police Department. 
 

 REPORTS 
a.) Community Development Quarterly/Annual Report. ANTHONY CASTEEL 
b.) Finance Department Report.  MIKE KEITH 
c.) Fire Department Report.  BRANDON AINSWORTH 
d.) Police Department Report.  FRED SCHULTZ 

 
REPORT FROM THE CITY MANAGER 

  
ADJOURNMENT 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(33-41) 
(42-51) 
(52-65) 
(66-73) 
 
 



ATHENS CITY COUNCIL 
MINUTES OF MEETING 

December 19th, 2023 

The Athens City Council met in regular session on Tuesday, December 19, at 6:00 p.m. Mayor 
Sherlin presiding.  The invocation was given by Council Member Pelley; and upon roll call, the 
following members were present: 

Curtis, Witt-McMahan, Pelley, Eaton, Sherlin. 

The following decisions were made and ordered made a part of the records of the Athens City 
Council. 

- 1 -
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

The minutes of the November 20, 2023, called meeting and the minutes of the November 21,  
2023, City Council Regular scheduled meeting were submitted and approved. Council Member 
Curtis moved; Council Member Pelley seconded. 

AYES: Curtis, Witt-McMahan, Pelley, Eaton, Sherlin 
NAYS: None 

- 2 -
REQUESTS FROM CITIZENS 

Six (6) individuals addressed the Council expressing concerns about Ingleside Courts, Council 
Member Pelley, and recent new developments.  

- 3 -
CONSENT AGENDA 

Mayor Sherlin advised the recording clerk to read the following items into the record: 

a) Approve Resolution No. 2023-32 to officially close and abandon an
Unopened/Unimproved alley way between Rock Street and View Street.

b) Approve Resolution No. 2023-33 for T-Mobile hometown grant application for sound
system for historic downtown Athens.

c) Approve Resolution No. 2023-34 for review of Charter changes.
d) Approve annual review of Debt Management Policy.
e) Approve bid to replace roof at City Hall
f) Approve Purchases for Vehicles Utilizing State of Tennessee Bid
g) Approval of Committee Appointees

1



1. Jordan Curtis to Economic Development Authority
2. Frances Witt-McMahan to Senior Citizens
3. Mayor Sherlin to Sister Cities Committee

h.)  Approve application for NLC Centennial Roadshow to promote the city. 

Mayor Sherlin requested that item C from the consent agenda be moved to New Business for 
discussion and a public hearing.  

Council Member Curtis moved, Council Member Pelley seconded, that the Consent Agenda as 
stated above with the removal of item C, be approved. Roll call: 

AYES: Curtis, Witt-McMahan, Pelley, Eaton, Sherlin. 
NAYS: None 

Motion Passes 

- 5 -

ORDINANCES 

None 

- 6 -

OLD BUSINESS 

None 

- 7 -

NEW BUSINESS 

Proposed Resolution No. 2023-34 requesting State Legislators receive approval for charter 
changes.  

Vice Mayor Eaton moved, Council Member Witt-McMahan seconded to approve Resolution 
No. 2023-34. Mayor Sherlin opened the floor for a public hearing. Two citizens spoke 
concerning the Charter Amendments, one in favor and one in opposition. The Mayor closed 
the Public Hearing. There was an amendment made by Vice Mayor Eaton to clarify which 
elections the term limits were to be implemented seconded by Council Member Witt- 
McMahan Roll call on Amendment: 

AYES: Witt-McMahan, Curtis, Pelley, Eaton, Sherlin. 

2



NAYS:  None 

Roll call on Resolution No. 2023-34 

AYES: Witt-McMahan, Curtis, Eaton, Sherlin. 
NAYS: Pelley, 

Motion Passes 
- 8-

Review tennis/pickleball courts bid for Ingleside. 

Finance Director Mike Keith provided detailed information on the bids for replacing the tennis 
courts at Ingleside. The project will require the current courts to be demolished and new courts 
installed at the same location. The current courts are over 30 years old and have reached the end 
of their life. If the low bid is accepted from Baseline Sports, six new tennis courts and six pickleball 
courts will be constructed. The bid will also include additional parking and drainage. The total bid 
award is $1,119,090.  

Council Member Curtis moved, and Council Member Witt-McMahan seconded to approve the 
bid from Baseline Sports in the amount of $1,119,090. Roll call: 

AYES: Curtis, Witt-McMahan, Eaton, Sherlin 
NAYS: Pelley 

Motion Passes 

Council Member Curtis had to leave the meeting at 7:05 P.M. 

- 9-

Motion regarding termination of K-9 program for Police. 

Mayor Sherlin opened the floor for discussion. Vice Mayor Eaton made an Amendment to strike 
out 1,2, 3, 4, and 5. 

City Attorney Chris Caldwell spoke and encouraged the Council to not amend and pass as 
discussed in work study session. 

Council Member Pelley moved, and Council Member Witt-McMahan seconded that K-9 
program be disbanded. There was an amendment made by Vice Mayor Eaton to clarify which 

3



elections the term limits were to be implemented seconded by Council Member Witt- 
McMahan Roll call on Amendment: 

AYES: Eaton, Sherlin  
NAYS: Witt-McMahan, Pelley 
ABSENT: Curtis 

Amendment Fails  

Roll call on original motion: 

AYES: Witt-McMahan, Pelley 
NAYS: Eaton, Sherlin 
ABSENT: Curtis 

Motion Fails, item to be returned to Study Session 
- 10 -

REPORTS

FINANCE DEPARTMENT REPORT 

Finance director Mike Keith presented the Finance Dep Report for October 2023.  The report was 
accepted as presented. 

- 11 -

FIRE DEPARTMENT REPORT 

Fire Chief Brandon Ainsworth presented the Fire Department Report for October 2023.  The 
report was accepted as presented.  

- 12 -

POLICE DEPARTMENT REPORT 

Police Chief Fred Schultz presented the Police Department Report for October 2023.  The report 
was accepted as presented.   

- 13 -

REPORT FROM THE CITY MANAGER 

4



City Manager Deb Wallace presented an update on various projects and programs taking place. 
The report was accepted as presented.  

- 14 -
ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business to come before the meeting, the meeting was adjourned at 7:35 
p.m.

Council Member Pelley moved, Vice Mayor Eaton seconded, for the meeting to be adjourned. 
AYES:  Witt-McMahan, Pelley, Eaton, Sherlin. 
NAYS:  Absent 

STEVEN S. SHERLIN, Mayor 

DEB WALLACE, City Manager 

5



6



7



8



RESOLUTION NO. 2024-01 

A RESOLUTION TO DECLARE THE WEEK OF JANUARY 21-27, 2024, 
ATHENS FLOOD AWARENESS WEEK 

WHEREAS, the City of Athens, Tennessee is composed of areas of designated flood hazard as 
determined by the Federal Emergency Management Agency; and, 

WHEREAS, these areas of Athens, Tennessee are subject to damages and losses due to flood 
waters; and, 

WHEREAS, the City of Athens, Tennessee is a program participant in the National Flood Insurance 
Program having applied for and complied with program guidelines; and, 

WHEREAS, many owners of properties located in flood prone areas of Athens, Tennessee do not 
have supplemental flood insurance policies; and, 

WHEREAS, the City of Athens seeks to inform all of its residents that flood insurance is available to 
cover structures and their contents; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Athens, Tennessee has a responsibility to keep its citizens fully advised of 
governmental activities and programs. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Athens, Tennessee, as follows: 

That the recitals above are true and accurate and form a part of this Resolution; and 

That meeting in regular session this 16th day of January 2024, that the week of January 21-27, 2024, 
is hereby declared to be "Flood Awareness Week" for the City of Athens, Tennessee; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, by this body that all citizens of Athens, Tennessee are hereby urged to 
learn more about the National Flood Insurance Program benefits as they can apply to their property. 

ON MOTION BY , SECONDED BY 
, said Resolution was approved by roll call vote. 

STEVEN SHERLIN, Mayor 

DEB WALLACE, City Manager 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

CHRISTOPHER M. CALDWELL, City Attorney 

9



RESOLUTION NO. 2024-02 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING APPLICATION TO THE 
DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND SECURITY – FEMA FOR A  

FISCAL YEAR (FY) 2023 ASSISTANCE TO FIREFIGHTERS GRANT 

WHEREAS, the Department of Homeland Security (DHS) – FEMA is offering a funding 
opportunity through its Fiscal Year (FY) 2023 Assistance to Firefighters Grant (AFG) program 
focusing on enhancing the safety of the public and firefighters with respect to fire and fire-related 
hazards; and, 

WHEREAS, the AFG program objectives are to provide critically needed resources that 
equip and train emergency personnel to recognized standards, enhance operational efficiencies, 
foster interoperability, and support community resilience; and, 

WHEREAS, the City’s desire in applying for this grant is to utilize the funding for 
equipment needed in the department; and, 

WHEREAS, the City, if the grant is awarded, will commit to a local match of 5% of the cost 
of the project. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Athens, Tennessee, as 
follows: 

That the recitals above are true and accurate and form a part of this Resolution; and 

That meeting in regular session this 16th day of January 2024, that the Mayor and City 
Manager are authorized and directed to execute and submit an application for a Fiscal Year (FY) 
2023 Assistance to Firefighters Grant through the Department of Homeland Security – FEMA 
for funding to equipment cost.  

That the Mayor and City Manager are authorized and directed to enter into all 
agreements with the Department of Homeland Security – FEMA to receive and administer such 
grant. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED by the Athens City Council that this resolution shall take 
effective immediately from and after its passage, the welfare of the Municipality requiring it. 

ON MOTION BY_____, SECONDED BY________, said Resolution was approved by roll call 
vote. 

STEVEN S. SHERLIN, Mayor 

DEB WALLACE, City Manager 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 
CHRIS CALDWELL, City Attorney 

10



Workplace Harassment/Non-Retaliation (Whistleblower) Policy 

Per TCA § 50-1-304, the City of Athens encourages any employee who believes in good faith that 
he/she has been asked to participate or remain silent about an illegal activity to notify the HR 
Director and/or the City Manager. In the event the complaint is against the City Manager, Human 
Resources Director, or council member, the investigator shall be the City Attorney, or an 
independent outside counsel selected by the City Attorney, or one provided through the City’s 
employment practices liability insurer.  

Employees are not only encouraged to report instances of retaliation, but also are obligated to 
report them.  Employees are also obligated to cooperate in any investigation of complaints of 
retaliation. The obligation includes, but is not necessarily limited to, coming forward with 
evidence, both favorable and unfavorable, for a person accused of such conduct; fully and 
truthfully making written reports or verbally answering questions when required to do so by an 
investigator. Employees are also obligated to refrain from making bad faith accusations of 
retaliation complaints.       

There will be no discrimination or retaliation (any type of adverse action against an employee for 
engaging in a protected activity. An adverse action is an action which would dissuade a 
reasonable employee from raising a concern about a possible violation or engaging in other 
related protected activity) against any  individual who participates in the investigation of a 
complaint. Nor will there be any discrimination or retaliation against any individual who files a 
good-faith complaint, even if the investigation produces insufficient evidence to support the 
complaint, and even if the charges cannot be proven.    

If the investigation substantiates the complaint, appropriate corrective and/or disciplinary action 
(up to dismissal) will be initiated. 

Disciplinary action (up to dismissal) will also be initiated against employees who make false or 
frivolous accusations, such as those made maliciously or recklessly, and against employees who 
knowingly fail to report instances of retaliation or fail or refuse to cooperate in a complaint 
investigation. 

No employee shall be discharged or terminated solely for refusing to participate in, or for refusing 
to remain silent about illegal activities. Illegal activities are defined as those that are in violation 

11



of the criminal or civil code of this state or the United States or any regulation intended to protect 
the public health, safety, or welfare.  

Actions taken by the City to investigate and resolve complaints shall be conducted confidentially 
to the extent practicable and appropriate, and consistent with the Tennessee Open Records Act, 
in order to protect the privacy of persons involved. 

12



13



MEMORANDUM 

TO: Deb Wallace, City Manager  

FROM: Matthew Marshall, Purchasing Assistant 

DATE: December 18, 2023 

RE: LAW ENFORCEMENT WEAPONS 

Attached is the information for the purchase of weapons for the Police Department. We had 
one bid for these weapons from Craig’s Firearms.  This was for 40 Ruger AR-556 10.5 SBR at the 
price of 709.41 per item.  The total for this bid is $28,376.40. This is part of the VCIF grant for 
the Police Department that has already been approved.  This grant covers most of the cost for 
this purchase, and what isn’t covered was budgeted for in the general fund. 

Thank You, 
Matthew Marshall 

14



15



16



17



 

TO:  Deb Wallace, City Manager 

FROM:  Kevin L. Helms, Project Manager 

Cc:  Ben Burchfield, Public Works Director 

  April Johnston, Street Superintendent 

DATE:  January 3, 2024 

SUBJECT: N Jackson Street Repairs 

 
Background 
In September the City Council approved an engineering agreement for the Public Works Department to 
move forward with repairs on N Jackson Street.  As part of the design process, GEOS performed 
geotechnical testing for the City’s Engineer of Record, Gresham Smith.  The purpose of the testing was to 
evaluate the subsurface conditions for design purposes on the roadway repairs. 
 
Three test sites were chosen, and the results showed no base stone under the asphalt at any of the 
locations.  Immediately below the asphalt layer is a layer of fill which met proper compaction in certain 
areas, but failed compaction tests in other areas.  Therefore, it is likely an unknown amount of cut and fill 
will be needed during construction.   
 
Based upon the above conditions and the steepness of the slope along the railroad the engineers have 
recommended a Slope Stability Analysis.  Proceeding without the analysis could result in the designer not 
properly accounting for the unknown existing slope conditions. 
 
We have included in your packet a copy of the proposal from GEOS to perform the Slope Stability Analysis.  
The proposal is for three tests to be performed at a cost of $3,000.  If the initial results indicate the need 
for additional test sites, each additional site will be billed at $750.  Currently, the City has saved $2,594 on 
the design work due primarily to providing traffic control with our own forces, and because data collection 
was less than anticipated.  In the event more than three test sites are needed, the savings are sufficient 
to cover the cost of up to three additional test sites. 
 
Action Item 
Approve the GEOS proposal as presented to perform the Slope Stability Analysis so we can move forward 
with project design. 

18



GEOServices, LLC | 6607 Mountain View Road, Suite 139, Ooltewah, Tennessee 37363 | Phone (423) 614-6471 Fax (423) 614-6479 

December 18, 2023 

Gresham Smith 
2095 Lakeside Centre Way, Suite 120 
Knoxville, TN 37922 

ATTENTION: Mr. Patrick J. Fiveash, P.E., CPESC 
Patrick.fiveash@greshamsmith.com 

Subject: PROPOSAL FOR LIMITED SLOPE STABILITY ANALYSIS  
N. Jackson Street Roadway Improvements
Athens, Tennessee
GEOServices Project No. A23110.00892

Dear Mr. Fiveash:  

GEOServices, LLC (GEOS) is pleased to provide you with our proposal for limited slope stability analysis for 

the subject project. The following proposal outlines our understanding of the project requirements based 

on the provided information and out subsequent phone and email conversations. This proposal provides a 

general description of the project, the associated costs, and the proposed schedule.  In addition, we have 

attached our Agreement for Services that establishes contractual arrangements. This attachment should be 

completed and forwarded to our office.    

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

GEOS previously issued a Report of Geotechnical Exploration (Project No. A23110.00638) for the project 

dated November 15, 2023. Based on our conversations, we understand the southern shoulder of N. 

Jackson Street has experienced distress for some time. N. Jackson Street in this area is located at the 

crest of a slope which measures approximately 30 feet in height at the highest point. The slope 

separates the railroad tracks below from the roadway. The roadway distress currently exists as 

longitudinal cracks that run parallel to the traffic on North Jackson Street. We understand that proposed 

plans include removing the shoulder and shifting the roadway to the north away from the crest of the 

slope.  

19



Proposal for Limited Slope Stability Analysis  GEOServices Project No. A23110.00892 
N. Jackson Street Roadway Improvements – Athens, Tennessee December 18, 2023 

 

2 | P a g e  

 

We have been requested to provide slope stability analysis for the existing slope. We understand that 

the existing slope has an inclination that varies but is approximately 1.8:1 at its steepest. GEOS will 

provide slope stability analysis for the existing slope and provide recommendations for remedial options 

for slope stabilization, if necessary. 

 

GEOS should be provided with any CAD drawings with existing topographic information and the 

proposed realignment of N. Jackson Street to utilize in the slope stability analysis. 

 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

 

GEOS proposes to utilize slope modeling software in order to perform the limited slope stability analysis. 

The analysis will be conducted using soil parameters based on the previous subsurface exploration and 

our experience in similar geologic settings. All slope sections will be analyzed for both static (normal) 

and pseudo-static (seismic) conditions. Our services will culminate with a written letter prepared by a 

geotechnical engineer or project staff professional under the review of a senior engineer licensed in 

Tennessee. The report will provide a summary of the slope geometry used in the analysis, a summary of 

the results of the slope stability analysis, and recommendations for slope stabilization, if necessary.  

 

PROJECT SCHEDULE AND COSTS 

 

Based on the scope of services described above, the lump cost to perform the limited geotechnical slope 

stability analysis will be $3,000. This price includes stability analysis of up to three (3) individual slope 

sections. Any additional sections that are required or requested will be billed at the unit rate of 

$750/section. Should conditions be encountered such that additional services appear to be in the best 

interest of the project, GEOS would contact you with our recommendations prior to proceeding with any 

services beyond the scope of this proposal. 

 

Based on our current schedule, GEOS is prepared to initiate our geotechnical services immediately upon 

receipt of your written authorization to proceed. The slope stability report will be submitted 

approximately ten (10) to fifteen (15) business days after receipt of your written authorization to 

proceed and receipt of all requested information. For this project, GEOS is requesting a copy of the 

grading plan in AutoCAD format.  

 

20



Proposal for Limited Slope Stability Analysis  GEOServices Project No. A23110.00892 
N. Jackson Street Roadway Improvements – Athens, Tennessee December 18, 2023 

 

3 | P a g e  

 

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS 

 

GEOS Agreement for Services is attached and is incorporated as a part of this proposal.  Please indicate 

your acceptance of our proposal by signing and returning one copy to our office. A facsimile transmittal 

of the signature page of the contract will be considered suitable written authorization. However, GEOS 

will issue the report only after the receipt of a signed copy of this contract.  If you elect to indicate 

acceptance of our proposal by issuing a purchase order, then please reference this proposal number and 

date.  Your purchase order will be an acceptance of our Agreement for Services and an authorization to 

proceed with the performance of our services.  The terms and conditions included in any purchase order 

shall not apply, as our agreement is for services which are not compatible with purchase order 

agreements. 

 

CLOSURE 

 

GEOServices sincerely appreciates the opportunity to provide you with this proposal. If you should have 

any questions, or need any further information, please do not hesitate to contact us. 

 

Sincerely, 
GEOServices, LLC  
 
 
 
 
 
Derek K. Kilday, P.E.  William M. Hesterlee, P.E. 
V.P. – Chattanooga Area Manager  Geotechnical Department Manager 
 
 
Attachment:  Agreement for Services Form 

 
 
 
 

21



1 of 5 

AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES 
Date: 

GEOServices, LLC  Client Name:  
(hereafter Consultant) (hereafter Client) 

  Address:  

 City: 

  State: Zip: 

 Telephone: 

 Fax: 

Email: 

PROJECT INFORMATION 

Project Name:  

Project Location: 

SERVICES TO BE RENDERED 

Proposal Number:                      Dated:         is incorporated into this Agreement For Services. This Agreement For 
Services is incorporated into the above Proposal. 

WITNESSETH: WHEREAS, Client desires to contract with Consultant to furnish Services to Client's project identified above. 

WHEREAS, Consultant is engaged in the business of providing Services and related labor, materials, and equipment. (Herein individually and 
collectively referred to as Services.) 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the Mutual Covenants and Promises included herein, Client and Consultant agree as follows: 

1. OFFER ACCEPTANCE: Client hereby accepts Consultant's offer to provide Services as described in Consultant's proposal for Services referenced
under "SERVICES TO BE RENDERED" and agrees that such Services and any additional Services authorized by Client shall be governed by this
Agreement. If Client requests Consultant to start performing Services prior to receipt of this Agreement, Client agrees that Consultant’s
beginning of performance is based on reliance that Client will accept and execute this Agreement for Services. If Client requests Consultant to
start performing Services prior to the execution of this Agreement For Services by the Client, then such request is an acceptance of this
Agreement for Services to the same extent as if Client had executed this Agreement. Should Client choose to accept this Agreement for Services
through the use of a Purchase Order, all preprinted terms and conditions on Client’s purchase order are inapplicable to this Agreement as this
Agreement is for Services that are not compatible with purchase order agreements. Unless this offer is previously accepted, it will be withdrawn
automatically at 5:00 pm EST, ninety (90) days from the date of issue.

2. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS: "Contract Documents" shall mean this document as well as the proposal listed under "SERVICES TO BE RENDERED"
each of which is incorporated into the other.

3. PAYMENT: Client will pay Consultant for Services and expenses in accordance with the Contract Documents. If prices for Services are not
established under SERVICES TO BE RENDERED, then the current fee schedule in effect for the location providing the Services shall be used as the
amount to be paid by Client for Services provided. Consultant will submit progress invoices to Client monthly and a final invoice upon completion of
its Services. Payment is due upon receipt of the invoice unless otherwise agreed to in writing prior to the submittal of the invoice. Invoices are past
due 30 calendar days after the date of the invoice. Past due amounts are subject to a late payment fee of one and one-half percent per month (18
percent per annum) or the highest amount allowed by applicable law on the outstanding balance, whichever is less. Attorney's fees and other costs
incurred in collecting past due amounts shall be paid by Client. The Client's obligation to pay under this Agreement is in no way dependent upon
the Client's ability to obtain financing, payment from third parties, approval of governmental or regulatory agencies, or upon the Client's successful
completion of the Project. Consultant shall be paid in full for all Services rendered under this Agreement, including any additional Services
authorized by Client in excess of those stated in this Agreement. Without incurring any liability to the Client, Consultant may either suspend or
terminate this Agreement if Client fails to pay any undisputed invoice amounts within 60 calendar days of the invoice date, or if Client states its

Address:  
City: 
State: 

Telephone: 
Fax: 

Email: 

December 18, 2023

Gresham Smith

2095 Lakeside Centre Way, Suite 120

Knoxville

Tennessee 37922

865-299-6130

patrick.fiveash@greshamsmith.com

N. Jackson Street Roadway Improvements - Slope Stability

Athens, Tennessee

A23110.00892 December 18, 2023

22



2 of 5 

intention not to pay forthcoming invoices. Such suspension or termination will not waive any other claim Consultant may have against Client. 
Following such suspension or termination, Consultant may resume work by mutual agreement with Client after payment by Client of all 
outstanding invoiced amounts and collection expenses. In case of such suspension or termination, Client waives all claims for damages or delay as a 
result of such suspension or termination.   
 
Any invoices that are not paid within thirty (30) calendar days of Client’s receipt of letter from Consultant demanding payment of the invoices or a 
collection action notification by an attorney or collection agency shall constitute a release of Consultant by Client from any all claims whatsoever, 
including, but not limited to, tort or contractual claims which Client may have against Consultant for Services performed under said invoice(s). 
 
4. STANDARD OF CARE: Consultant and its agents, employees and subcontractors shall endeavor to perform Services for Client using that degree of 
care and skill ordinarily exercised, under similar circumstances, by others ordinarily providing Services in the same or similar locality as the project 
at the time Services are provided. In the event any portion of the Services fails to substantially comply with this standard of care obligation and 
Consultant is promptly notified in writing prior to one year after completion of such portion of the Services, Consultant will re-perform such portion 
of the Services, or if re-performance is impractical, Consultant will refund the amount of compensation paid to Consultant for such portion of the 
Services. THE REMEDIES SET FORTH HEREIN ARE EXCLUSIVE. This STANDARD OF CARE is in lieu of all other warranties and standards of care. No 
other warranty or standard of care, expressed or implied, is made or intended by this Agreement, or by the proposal, by oral communications, or 
by any representations made regarding the Services included in this Agreement. 
 
5. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY: CONSULTANT AND CLIENT MUTUALLY AGREE THAT THE SERVICES PROVIDED PURSUANT TO THIS AGREEMENT 
INVOLVE RISKS OF LIABILITY WHICH CANNOT BE ADEQUATELY COMPENSATED FOR BY THE PAYMENTS CLIENT WILL MAKE UNDER THIS 
AGREEMENT. THEREFORE, THE TOTAL CUMULATIVE LIABILITY OF CONSULTANT, ITS AGENTS, EMPLOYEES, AND SUBCONTRACTORS WHETHER IN 
CONTRACT, TORT INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE (WHETHER SOLE OR CONCURRENT), PROFESSIONAL ERRORS OR OMISSIONS, BREACH OF WARRANTY 
(EXPRESS OR IMPLIED), NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION, AND STRICT LIABILITY, OR OTHERWISE ARISING OUT OF, CONNECTED WITH, OR 
RESULTING FROM THE SERVICES PROVIDED PURSUANT TO THIS AGREEMENT SHALL NOT EXCEED THE TOTAL FEES PAID BY CLIENT OR FIFTY 
THOUSAND DOLLARS, WHICHEVER IS GREATER. CLIENT AGREES THAT PAYMENT OF THE LIMIT OF LIABILITY AMOUNT IS THE SOLE REMEDY TO THE 
EXCLUSION OF ALL OTHER REMEDIES AVAILABLE FOR THE TOTAL CUMULATIVE LIABILITY OF CONSULTANT, ITS AGENTS, EMPLOYEES, AND 
SUBCONTRACTORS ARISING OUT OF, CONNECTED WITH OR RESULTING FROM THE SERVICES PROVIDED PURSUANT TO THIS AGREEMENT. AT 
ADDITIONAL COST, CLIENT MAY OBTAIN A HIGHER LIMIT OF LIABILITY PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT OF SERVICES. THE ADDITIONAL COST IS 
COMPENSATION TO CONSULTANT FOR INCREASING THE CONSULTANT'S LIMIT OF LIABILITY. THE ADDITIONAL COST IS NOT AN INSURANCE COST. 
THE HIGHER LIMIT OF LIABILITY APPLIES ONLY IF MUTUALLY AGREED TO IN WRITING BY CONSULTANT AND CLIENT AT THE TIME CLIENT ACCEPTS 
THIS AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES AND THE ADDITIONAL COST PAID WITHIN SEVEN DAYS OF THE DATE OF THE MUTUAL AGREEMENT TO INCREASE 
THE LIMIT OF LIABILITY. 
 
6. DISCLAIMER OF CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES: In no event shall Consultant or Client be liable to the other for any special, indirect, incidental or 
consequential loss or damages, including, but not limited to, lost profits and loss of use rising from or related to Services provided by Consultant. 
 
7. REPORTS: In connection with the performance of the Services, Consultant shall deliver to Client one or more reports or other written documents 
reflecting Services provided and the results of such Services. All reports and written documents delivered to Client are instruments reflecting the 
Services provided by Consultant pursuant to this Agreement and are made available for Client's use subject to the limitations of this Agreement. 
Instruments of Service provided by Consultant to Client pursuant to this Agreement are provided for the exclusive use of Client, and Client's agents 
and employees for the Project and are not to be used or relied upon by third parties or in connection with other projects. Subject to the authorized 
use of Client, and Client's agents, and employees, all Instruments of Service, other written documents, all original data gathered by Consultant and 
work papers produced by Consultant in the performance of or intrinsic to the Services included in the Services are, and shall remain, the sole and 
exclusive property of Consultant. Unless a shorter period is stated in the Instrument of Service, all Instruments of Service provided pursuant to this 
Agreement will be valid for a period of three years from the date of this Agreement after which the Instruments of Service are void and can no 
longer be used or relied upon by anyone for any purpose whatsoever. The period for which an Instrument of Service is valid may be extended by 
mutual written consent of the Consultant and Client. 
 
Documents that may be relied upon by Client are limited to the printed copies (also known as hardcopies) that are signed or sealed by Consultant. 
Files in electronic media format of text, data, graphics or of other types that are furnished by Consultant to Client are only for the convenience of 
Consultant and Client. Any conclusion or information obtained or derived from such electronic files will be at the Client’s or other user’s sole risk. 
Data stored in electronic format can deteriorate or be modified inadvertently or otherwise. Consultant shall not be responsible to maintain 
documents stored in electronic media. 
 
Consultant shall not be responsible for any alterations, modifications, or additions made in the electronic data by the Client or any reuse of the 
electronic data by the Client or any other party for this project or any other project without Consultant’s written consent. Client shall indemnify, 
and hold Consultant harmless against any claims, damages or losses arising out the reuse of the electronic data without Consultant’s consent or 
arising out of alterations, modifications, or additions to the electronic data made by anyone other than Consultant. 
 
Any Instruments of Service, including reports, generated as part of this Agreement are intended solely for use by Client and shall not be provided to 
any other person or entity without Consultant’s written authorization. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Client shall indemnify and hold 
harmless Consultant from and against any action or claim brought by any person or entity claiming to rely on the information or opinions contained 
in the Instrument of Service without Consultant’s written authorization. 
 

23



3 of 5 

8. SAFETY:  Consultant specifically disclaims any authority or responsibility for general job safety and for the safety of persons who are not 
employed by Consultant. Should Client, or third parties, be conducting activities on the Site, then each shall have responsibility for their own safety 
and compliance with applicable safety requirements. Field Personnel: The presence of Consultant’s field personnel, either full-time or part-time, 
may be for the purpose of providing project administration, assessment, observation or field testing of specific aspects of the project as authorized 
by Client. Should Client retain the Services of a Contractor(s) for the project, Consultant is not responsible in any way whatsoever for the 
supervision or direction of the work of the Contractor(s), its’ employees or agents. The presence of Consultant’s field personnel for project 
administration, assessment, observation or testing shall not relieve the Contractor(s) of his responsibility for performing work in accordance with 
the project plans and specifications. If a Contractor (not a subcontractor of Consultant) is involved in the project, Client agrees, in accordance with 
generally accepted construction practices, that the Contractor will be solely responsible for working conditions on the jobsite, including safety of all 
persons and property during performance of the work, and compliance with OHSA regulations. These requirements will apply continuously and will 
not be limited to normal working hours. It is agreed that Consultant will not be responsible for job or jobsite safety on the project, other than for 
Consultant’s employees and subcontractors, and that Consultant does not have the duty or right to stop the work of the Contractor. 
 
9. CONFIDENTIALITY: Subject to any obligation Consultant may have under applicable law or regulation, Consultant will endeavor to release 
information relating to the Services only to its employees and subcontractors in the performance of the Services, to Client's authorized 
representative(s) and to persons designated by the authorized representative to receive such information. 
 
10. SAMPLES: Unless otherwise requested, test specimens or samples will be disposed of immediately upon completion of tests and analysis. Upon 
written request, Consultant will retain samples for a mutually acceptable storage charge and period of time. In the event that samples contain or 
may contain hazardous materials, Consultant shall, after completion of testing and at Client's expense, return such samples to Client or make 
samples available for disposal by Client's agent. Client recognizes and agrees that Consultant is acting as a bailee and at no time assumes title to 
said samples. 
 
11. REPRESENTATIONS OF CLIENT: Client warrants and covenants that sufficient funds are available or will be available upon receipt of Consultant's 
invoice to make payment in full for the Services rendered by Consultant. Client warrants that all information provided to Consultant regarding the 
project and project location are complete and accurate to the best of Client's knowledge. 
 
12. CLIENT OBLIGATIONS: Client agrees to furnish Consultant, its agents, employees, and subcontractors a right-of-entry and any authorizations 
needed for Consultant to enter onto the project site to perform the Services included in this Agreement. Consultant will take reasonable 
precautions to minimize damage to the Project Site from Consultant's activities and use of equipment. Client recognizes that the performance of 
the Services included in this Agreement may cause alteration or damage to the site. Client accepts the fact that this is inherent in the work and will 
not look to Consultant for reimbursement or hold Consultant liable or responsible for any such alteration or damage. Should Client not be owner of 
the property, then Client agrees to notify the owner of the aforementioned possibility of unavoidable alteration and damage and to indemnify and 
hold harmless Consultant against any claims and claims related costs including attorney's fees by the owner or persons having possession of the 
site through the owner which are related to such alteration or damage. 
 
13. UTILITIES: Client agrees to disclose the identity of all utilities serving the Project Site and the presence and accurate location of hidden or 
obscure man-made objects known to Client relative to field tests or boring locations. Client agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Consultant from 
all claims, suits, losses, personal injuries, death, and property liability including costs and attorney's fees resulting from damage or injury to utilities 
or subterranean structures (pipes, tanks, etc.) arising from the performance of Consultant's Services when the existence of such are not called to 
Consultant's attention or the location not correctly identified in information furnished Consultant. 
 
14. CERTIFICATIONS: Client agrees not to require that Consultant execute any certification with regard to work performed, tested or observed 
under this Agreement unless : 1) Consultant believes that it has performed sufficient work to provide a sufficient basis to issue the certification; 2) 
Consultant believes that the work performed, tested or observed meets the criteria of the certification; and 3) Consultant has reviewed and 
approved in writing the exact form of such certification prior to execution of this Agreement. Any certification by Consultant is limited to an 
expression of professional opinion based upon the Services performed by the Consultant, and does not constitute a warranty or guarantee, either 
expressed or implied. 
 
15. FAILURE TO FOLLOW RECOMMENDATIONS: The Client agrees that it would be unfair to hold the Consultant liable for problems that may occur 
if the Consultant’s recommendations are not followed. Accordingly, the Client waives any claim against the Consultant, and agrees to indemnify, 
and hold harmless the Consultant from any claim or liability for injury or loss that results from failure to implement the Consultant’s 
recommendations or from implementation of the Consultant’s recommendations in a manner that is not in strict accordance with them. 
 
16. TERMINATION: 
For Convenience - Upon written notice, Client or Consultant may terminate the performance of any further Services included in this Agreement if 
the terminating party determines termination is in the terminating party's interest. Upon dispatch or receipt of the termination notice, Consultant 
shall stop work on all Services included in this Agreement and deliver any Instruments of Service complete at that time to Client and Client shall pay 
Consultant within 30 days for all Services performed up to the dispatch or receipt of the termination notice. Upon Termination for Convenience, 
Consultant and Client shall have no further rights or remedies other than those included in this paragraph.   
For Cause –In the event of material breach of this Agreement, the party not breaching the Agreement may terminate it upon 10 days written notice 
delivered or mailed to the other party, which notice must identify the material breach. The Agreement may not be terminated for cause if the 
breaching party cures the breach within ten days of receipt of the written notice. Upon Termination for Cause, Consultant shall stop work on all 
Services included in this Agreement and deliver any instruments of service complete at that time to Client and Client shall pay Consultant within 30 

24



4 of 5 

days for all Services performed up to the termination. Upon Termination for Cause, Consultant and Client shall have no further rights or remedies 
other than those included in this paragraph. 

17. UNFORESEEN CONDITIONS OR OCCURRENCES: If, during the performance of service hereunder, any unforeseen hazardous substance,
material, element or constituent or other unforeseen conditions or occurrences are encountered which, in Consultant's judgment significantly 
affects or may affect the services, the risk involved in providing the Services, or the recommended scope of Services, Consultant will notify Client
thereof. Subsequent to that notification, Consultant may: (a) If practicable, in Consultant's judgment and with approval of Client, complete the
original scope of Services in accordance with the procedures originally intended in the Proposal; (b) Agree with Client to modify the scope of
Services and the estimate of charges to include the previously unforeseen conditions or occurrences, such revision to be in writing and signed by
the parties and incorporated herein; or (c) Terminate the Services effective on the date of notification pursuant to the terms of TERMINATION FOR
CONVENIENCE. Client is responsible for reporting any releases of hazardous substances to appropriate government agencies as required by law.
Client waives any claim against Consultant and will indemnify and hold Consultant harmless from any claim, injury or loss arising from the discovery
of unforeseen hazardous substances.

18. FORCE MAJEURE: Neither party shall be deemed in default of this Agreement to the extent that any delay or failure in the performance of an
obligation (other than the payment of money) results from any causes beyond its reasonable control and without its fault or negligence. For this
purpose, such acts or events shall include, but are not limited to, storms, floods, usually severe weather, epidemics, civil disturbances, war, riot,
strikes, lockouts or other industrial disturbances, and inability within reasonable diligence to supply personnel, information or material to the
project. In the event that such acts or events occur, it is agreed that both parties shall attempt to overcome all difficulties arising and to resume as
soon as reasonably possible the normal pursuit and schedule of the Services covered by this Agreement. The time for performance shall be
extended for a period equal to the delay.

19. INSURANCE: Consultant shall maintain at its own expense Professional Liability Insurance with limits of $1,000,000. A certificate can be issued
upon request identifying details and limits of coverage.

20. INDEMNITY: Client agrees to indemnify, and save harmless Consultant, its agents, employees, and subcontractors from and against any and all
losses, liabilities, and costs and expenses of every kind (including cost of defense, investigation, settlement, and reasonable attorney's fees), which
Consultant, its agents, employees, and subcontractors may incur, become responsible for, or pay out as a result of bodily injuries (including death)
to any person, damage to any property, or both, to the extent caused by Client's negligence or willful misconduct. Subject to the Limitation of
Liability in Article 5, Consultant agrees to indemnify, and save harmless Client from and against any and all losses, liabilities, and costs and expenses
of every kind (including cost of defense, investigation, settlement, and reasonable attorney's fees) which Client may incur, become responsible for,
or pay out as a result of bodily injuries (including death) to any person, damage to any property, or both, to the extent caused by Consultant's
negligence or willful misconduct. Subject to the Limitation of Liability in Article 5, Client and Consultant shall, in the event of liability arising out of
their joint negligence or willful misconduct indemnify and save harmless each other in proportion to their relative degree of fault.

21. DISPUTE RESOLUTION: Consultant may in Consultant’s sole discretion pursue collection of past due invoices by litigation in a court of
competent jurisdiction. Other than Consultant’s collection of past due invoices, in the event of a dispute between Consultant and Client with regard 
to any matter arising out of or related to this Agreement, the Parties will use their best efforts to resolve the dispute amicably within fifteen (15)
calendar days. If the dispute cannot be settled amicably, the Parties agree that the dispute shall be subject to mediation in accordance with the
mediation rules of the American Arbitration Association or similar Dispute Resolution organization. Mediation in good faith shall be a condition
precedent to the institution of legal or equitable proceedings by either party. Once a party files a request for mediation with the other party and
with the American Arbitration Association, or similar Dispute Resolution organization, the parties agree to commence such mediation within thirty
(30) days of the filing of the request. The costs of such mediation shall be borne equally by both parties. If the dispute is not resolved after such
mediation, then the dispute shall be resolved by litigation in a court of competent jurisdiction.

22. CAPTIONS AND HEADINGS: The captions and headings throughout this Agreement are for convenience and reference only, and the words
contained therein shall in no way be held or deemed to define, limit, describe, modify, or add to the interpretation, construction, or meaning of any
provision of or scope or intent of this Agreement.

23. SEVERABILITY: If any provision of this Agreement, or application thereof to any person or circumstance, shall to any extent be invalid, then such
provision shall be modified if possible, to fulfill the intent of the parties as reflected in the original provision, the remainder of this Agreement, or
the application of such provision to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is held invalid, shall not be affected thereby, and each
provision of this Agreement shall be valid and enforced to the fullest extent permitted by law.

24. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBCONTRACTS: Neither party may assign this Agreement, in whole or in part, without the prior written consent of the
other party, except for an assignment of proceeds for financing purposes. Consultant may subcontract for the Services of others without obtaining
Client’s consent if Consultant deems it necessary or desirable to have others perform Services.

25. NO WAIVER: No waiver by either party of any default by the other party in the performance of any provision of this Agreement shall operate as
or be construed as a waiver of any future default, whether like or different in character.

26. LAW TO APPLY: The validity, interpretation, and performance of this Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the
laws of the state in which the project is located.

25



5 of 5 

CONSULTANT HEREBY ADVISES CLIENT THAT ITS PERFORMANCE OF THIS AGREEMENT IS EXPRESSLY CONDITIONED ON CLIENT'S ASSENT TO THE 
TERMS AND CONDITIONS DETAILED HEREIN. 

ENTIRE AGREEMENT – This Agreement represents the entire understanding and agreement between the parties hereto relating to the Services and 
supersedes any and all prior negotiations, discussions, and Agreements, whether written or oral, between the parties regarding same. 

TO THE EXTENT that any additional or different Provisions conflict with the Provisions of this Agreement, the Provisions of this Agreement shall 
govern. No amendment or modification to this Agreement or any waiver of any provisions hereof shall be effective unless in writing, signed by both 
parties.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized representative. 

CLIENT: CONSULTANT:  GEOServices, LLC

BY:  ________________________________ BY:      ________________________________
(Signature) (Signature)

________________________________  P.E. / Vice President
(Print Name / Title) 

DATE:   ________________________________ DATE:

PROPOSAL NUMBER:  

Faxed signature to be treated as original signature

Gresham Smith

A23110.00892

December 18, 2023

26



27



28



29



 
 
TO:        Deb Wallace, City Manager 

FROM:        Brandon Ainsworth, Fire Chief   

DATE:        January 3, 2024 

SUBJECT:    Fire and Police Radio upgrades to the statewide TVRS 800 MHZ radio system 
 
 
The safety of our public safety personnel should be our top priority. This includes the equipment to 
effectively communicate. It is my responsibility to ensure safe operations for all hazards incidents. 
There is no greater risk to the safety of a responder during an emergency than failed communication 
during an incident. When communication between responders fails, the likelihood for an increase in 
loss of property or the potential loss of life increases. The chance that a responder has a life threating 
event and has no way to communicate is unsettling. The need for an incident commander to have 
communication with the dispatch center during an incident is paramount to the success of the 
incident. The need for additional resources cannot be made if communication fails.  We need to 
provide our personnel with the best product that has the best coverage.  In the event we have a life-
or-death situation that requires communication, it works. In this comparison, Motorola is superior. I 
recommend we do not continue the habit of just increasing the coverage to make it better. That only 
works for a few years. For example, the last update we looked at with this same option was more 
expensive. Here we are again looking to update. We need to do the best we can do for our employees 
who put their lives on the line for our city. You get what you pay for.  How much are we willing to pay 
for a life?   

The purpose of this memorandum is to highlight the justifications to choose Motorola public safety 
communication equipment. This justification list was compiled by highlighting the specification and 
real-world testing in the City of Athens. Testing was performed by police and fire thought the city, in 
known problem areas and critical infrastructure. 

Listed are the specifications justifying the additional cost for the Motorola: 

Portables had a 99% coverage throughout the tested aera. This requires less hardware and eliminates 
the possibility of having to add a tower site to obtain the same coverage with the Kenwood radios. 
Such equipment as in car mobile repeaters for every patrol and fire apparatus is not needed and will 
save 2,500.00-3,500.00 each/apx $150,000 which was extra to the Kenwood quote.  Motorola is the 
sole provider of public safety radios with LTE use on the 800 MHz system. 

30



 
The included Motorola portables are All Band capable. Meaning at any point in time we see the need 
to have UHF or VHF there will be no need to buy new radios. This will be a software update for 
Motorola.  The Kenwood all band radio does not have LTE and there is no benefit in coverage for the 
added cost. 

Motorola offers and includes in the quote a federal level of encryption, meaning they are FEMA/DHS 
approved for operations for public safety use. The encryption is included in a required security bundle 
for 800 MHz operations. Also included is a Tactical bundle that has the software for allowing tone 
signaling, and personal accountability.  

Tested by fire department staff was the noise suppression intensity for both radios. Motorola 
suppressed background noise during transmission. This is a mission critical performance needed for 
both police and fire to be able to transmit needed information by radio during noisy events including 
but not limited to; gun fire, running saws, running trucks, arriving emergency vehicles. Audio 
distortion factor Kenwood vs Motorola, Kenwood has a 2.5% Rx 2%Tx compared to Motorola 
0.90%Rx 0.85%Tx. Audio output for Motorola is louder and of better quality with a rated 3-watt 
output and a max output of 5 watts vs Kenwood 1 watt output.  

Only Motorola: Smart Locate, integrated into situational awareness software, Command Central 
Aware, delivers high-speed location-tracking over public safety LTE for precise resource deployment. 
Smart Locate keeps you up to date, with accurate location updates every few seconds - 
supplemented with indoor positioning data. Smart Locate delivers GPS location information every 
few seconds, so you know where your resources are with complete confidence. 

Only Motorola: Smart Connect (LTE), Smart Connect automatically switches your voice 
communications to broadband if you lose radio coverage. SmartConnect automatically switches 
between P25 and broadband in seconds. You don’t have to touch your radio; all you see is a new icon 
on the screen. 

Only Motorola: Smart Mapping, Locate and connect with other first responders, right from the screen 
of your APX NEXT™ radio. Empower your public safety teams to collaborate and coordinate better. 
Find your location. Find other first responders, view their status, and tap to communicate. Smart 
Mapping gives you precise location information and easy-to-use waypoints on a modern map 
interface, right on your radio. The Smart Mapping platform will evolve. Get ready for security camera 
feeds, CAD integration, voice activation and much more. 

 

 

31



Numerous surrounding public safety agencies are purchasing the Motorola Next LTE radios: 

Tennessee Highway Patrol; Rhea County Sheriff's; The City of Sweetwater; Pigeon Forge; Cleveland / 
Bradley County; Hamilton County / Chattanooga.   

Also, we have the ability to have our radios cloned during a disaster response. The US Forrest Service, 
ATF, FBI, TBI all use Motorola. Not to mention all-statewide disaster channels are on 800 MHz 
allowing for communication across jurisdictional boundaries. 

Based on a quote from Motorola Solutions (sole provider TN state contract) we are looking at roughly 
$843,000.00 to completely move FD and PD to the to the statewide TVRS 800 MHZ radio system.   

32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73


	Agenda
	Binder1
	2023-12-19 Meeting Minutes track change
	ATHENS CITY COUNCIL
	MINUTES OF MEETING
	December 19th, 2023
	APPROVAL OF MINUTES


	Resolution 2024-01 Flood Awareness Week
	Nina 2023 workplace harassment non-retaliation policy
	Matthew Marshall-law enforement weap
	Mike Keith- Truck for Comm. Dev, and PW
	Kevin Helms Memo Slope Analysis
	Kevin Helms A23110.00892 N. Jackson Street Roadway Improvements - Slope Stability
	Brandon- New fire staiton land request council packet Jan 2024
	Brandon- Public Safety radio upgrades 2024
	Mary- 2023 Annual Report - Council Packet
	Mike Keith Financial Report
	AFD monthly report December 2023
	Jason Garren 2024 January City Council Report




